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TOP;)GRAPHICAL SKETCHES of the County of
ESSEX. ‘

HE county, of Eflex is bounded
T on the North by the Siate of
New-Hampthire, Eaft by the Atlan-
tick, South and Weft by the county of
Middlefex and Chelfea in the county
of Suffolk.  The firfl lertiement with-
in the beunds of Maflachufetts (pro-
per) was here made in 1628, by
John Endicott, Efquire, one of the
original patentecs, and many years
Governour of the colony. It was
made a county in 1643, being one of
the three original Shires into which

- the colony was firft divided. It con-
tains at this day twenty two town-
fhips, which with the number of houf-
es, families and inhabitants, as afcer-
tained by the late cenfus, are heére
arranged according to the dates of
their {everal incorporations.

Date.  Houf. Fam. Inhad,
Salem, 1623 928 1493 792¢
Ipiwich, 1634 601 881 4562
Newbury, 1635 538 723 397z
Lynn, 1637 300 404 229§
Gloucetter, 1639 673 1006 §317
Rowley, 1639 278 328 1772
Salifbury, 1640 267 325 1778
Wenham, 1643 74 92 302
Manchefter, 1645 142 196 g6s
Haverhill, 1645 330 435 2402
Andover, 1646 402, 525 2863
Marblenead, 1649 618 1104 5660
Topsfield, 1650 107 150 %80
Amefbury, 1668 303 391 1805
Beverly, 1668 422 637 3290
'Bradford, 1675 196 253 1372
Boxford, 1685 128 163 92§
Methuen, 1727 181 217 1293
Midd{eton, 1728 102 119 682
Danvers, 1757 372 460 2425
Newburyport, 1764 616 939 4837
Lynnfield, 1782 66 82 agr

This county pays about one feventh
part of the State Tax, elets fix Sen-
ators and Counfellors for the govern-
ment of the Commonwealth, and one
Reprefentative in the Legiflature of
the United States.

The face of the country is pleafingly
variegated with hills, vales, woods,
and plains. A great number of ponds
well ftored with fifh of various kinds

are interfperfed through the country.
Thefe give rife to nmnerous ftreams,
on which are feated mills for the va-
rious -neceflary ufes of the people,
The land is generally fruitful, butis
{aid to he peculiarly favourable to
barley, which yields the moft certaint
crop ; the ears are fuller, and the
grain larger and fairer than 1n any
other partof the State. The fea coalt
is indented with a number of good
harbours, and feveral rivers pafs into
the fea within the bounds of the
county. Merrimack river interfeéls
it entirely ; on the north fide of which
are the towns of Salifbury, Amefbury,
Haverhill and Methuen. Thele all
extend three miles from the river to
the line of Newhampthire.

Salifbury adjoins the fea coaft and
contains two parifhes. "It is feparat-
ed from Ametbury by Powow ‘niver,
which has its rife in Kingfton, New-
hampfhire, in its courfe pafling over
feveral falls, on which are mills of
various kinds. It is navigable one
mile from its mouth andm, any veflels
are built on its banks. Near its junc-
tion with the Merrimack a convenient
bridge iserected acrofs it, furnithed
with a draw, forming the communi-
cation between Salifbury and Amel-
buty, feven miles from the fea. Ad-
joining the feacoaft and on the banks

“of Merrimack river, are large tratts

of marfh, where are annually cut
great quantities of falt hay. The
moft ancient fettlementin this town
is in the lower parifh, at which place
the General Courtof the former pro-
vince of Maffachufetts bay was fome-
times held. The part of the town at
prefent moft flourifhing, is a point of
land tormed by the junétion of Mer-
rimack and Powow rivers. Hereis a
village very pleafantly fitnated on the
bank of the Merrimack, where, before
the revolution war, fhipbuilding was
carried on to a conlfiderable extent,
which, though -now much decreafed,
is ftill not wholly laid afide ; and this,
with itsauxiliary trades and fome lit-
tle navigation owned and fitted here,
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gives the place a very lively and bufy
appearance. The continental frigate
Alliance was built at this place under
the direttion of Mr. Hacket, a very
velpectable naval architeét.

Next to Salifbury is Awmefbury ; con~
taining alfo twoparithes. At thelow-
+8r partof this town adjoining to Powow
river isacompaét fettlement confilting
of one itreet near a mile long, where
are feveral thops of goods and the va-
rious kinds of handicrafts ufual in this
country. Another fmall village, there
called Amefbury Mills, though lying
principally in Salifbury, is formed a-
round the lower falls ot Powow river,
mentioned before. At this place the
water falls about one hundred feet
within the diftance of fifty perches,
and in its delcent carries one bloomoe-
1y, five faw wills; feven grit mills,
two linfeed oil mills, ane fulling mill,
and one fmuff mill, befides feveral
wheels, auxiliary to different labours.
The rapid fall of the water, the dams
at very fhort diftances crofling the riv-

er, the various wheels and mills arif-.

ing almoft immediately one over a-
nother,-and the very irregular and
grotefque fituation of the houfes and
other buildings on the adjoining
grounds, give this place a romantick

appearance, and afford in the whole

one of the molt fingular views to be
found in this country. In the eaft-
ern part of the town, befidethe incor-
porated congregation, are a prefbyte-
rian church, a meeting of friends, and
a fmall fociety of feparatifts, who call
themfelves baptifts and receive thein-
ftruttions of a lay-exhorter. Several
auempts have been made to eftablith
an epifcopal church here, and more
than once a houfe for worfhip in this
kind has been fet up, but from the
{nall number of perfons of that per-
{ualion or fome . other caufe, thefe
attempts have proved abortive. The
bufinefs of fhip building was hereto-
fore condufted with fpirit in this

place, but asin other places on the’

river Merrimack, it is confiderably
leflened. The land is in gencral of 2
ftrong and excellent quality and is
well cultivated. It was heretofore re-
markable for the quaatity and quali.
ty of the cyder made, but the decay of
their orchards and the difheartening

ravages of the canker worm, have al.
moft annihilated this branch of huf-
bandry. ‘

Hawerbill is the next town in order
on the river and confifts of four par-
ithes, befides a refpetable congrega-
tion of Anabaptifts, formed from this
and theadjoining towns. Theinhab-
itants are principally devoted to huf.
bandry, except at the place emphati.
cally called 2be roawn, where isacom.
pact fettlement extending a mile on
the river. The people here are
chiefly employed in commerce and
the mechanick arts. Travellers are
ftruck with the pleafantnefs of this fit..
uation, and a number of neat and well
finithed houfes give it a confiderable
appearance of eiegance. Here are
three dittilleries, one of which has
lately undergone alaudable tranfimu-
tation into a brewery. Some veflels
are annually built here, and feveral
are employed in the'Welt India trade;
but the bufinefs of the place is very
fenfibly lefs than before the revolu-
tion. A manufaltory of fail cloth
was begun here in 1789, and is faid to
be ina promifing way.

Methuen adjoins Haverhill and ex.
tends on the viver to Dracut in the
county of Middlefex. It comains
two parifhes. Hufbandry and the
cutting and marketing of lumber di-
vide the attention of the inhabitants,
‘The latter branch of bufinefs has, it
is conceived, been followed too much
to the detriment of the intereft of ag-
riculture. Butit is faid the people
are now devoting more of their atten-
tion to the cultivation of their grounds,
which will of courfe foon wear a more
thriving afpet. The land is very va-
rious, but the town is faid to contain
its proportion of good fuil, and the
prefent rough and barren appearance
of a great part of it is ratlier to be im-
puted to the negle@ of cultivatien
than to any original ill quality of the
ground.

Pafling over the river we enter An-
dover, divided into two parifhes. The
general appearance of this place is
thriving, and, for ao-agricultural
town, the buildings, publick and pri-
vate, are in a ftyle of uncommon neat-
nefs and elegance. The landis of an
excellent quality and under handfome

' ~ cultivati on,
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eultivation, particularly that part of
it which is watered by Shawybeen riv-
_er, a confiderable fiream which takes
its rife in Bedford in the county ot
Middlefex, and pafling through Bille-
rica, Tewkfbury and Andover, dif-
charges itfelt into Merrimack river,
at this latter place.  Inthe fouth par-
ifh are a powder milly and paper mill,
From the former of thefe large fup-
lies were furnifhed to the army dur.
ing the late war ; the paper mill is
et in its infancy, but has already ex-
%ibited‘fpecimens of its manufacture
of an excellent fabrick,
both owned by the Hon. Mr. Phil.
lips, Prefident of the Senate, a native
inhabitant of this town, whofe un-
wearied attention to the political, man-
ufatural and literary interetts of his
country are too well known to need
an encomiium here, and have endcar-
ed his name to the citizens of the
Comwmonwealth in general, and elpe-
cially to thofe of the county of Effex.
Under his aufpices and by the liberal
benefaftions of his father, the late
Hon. Samuel Philips of Andover, and
of the Hon. John Phillips, L. L. D. of
Excter in the State of New-Hamp-
thire, an academy was inftituted 1n
this town in the year 1778, and in the
year 1780 au act pafied the Legifla-
ture incorporating the gentlemen a-
bove named, with {undry other re.
fpeétable characlers, by the name of
- ¢ the Truttees of Phillips’s Academy
in Andover,” *

The appointments of this Seminary
are liberal. A preceptor, an allift-
ant preceptor, and a teacher of writing
and prattical mathematics are at pre-
fent well fupported, and the funds are
faid to be in a growing flate. With-
in its original dcfign fome higher
branches of learning may be taught
as ability and opportunity thall arife.

Bradford is eaftward of Andover on
the river, and is divided into two par-
ithes, The land is in general good
and well cultivated. Yn the upper

Thele are

part of the town confiderable quanti-
ties of leather fhoes are manufactured
and vended for ufe and exportation
in the commercial towns. In the
lower parith fome veflels are built for
merchants in other places. Several
ftreams fall into Merrimack river in
this town, which fupport a number of
mills of various kinds.

Below Bradford and extending from
thence to the {ea is Newbury, contain-
ing five parifhes, belides a fociety of
Friends or Quakers. ‘The inhabi-
tants are principally employed in
hufbandry, and have in general the
happinefs of a grateful foil that wel)
rewards their induftry. The land,
particularly in that part of the town
which lies on Merrimack river, and is
here diftinguifhed by the name of
Neawbury- Newtown, is of a fuperior
quality, under the beft cnltivation,
and is faid by travellers to be equal
in appearance to fome of the moftim.
proved parts of Great Britain. From
fome of the high lands a very exten.
five and variegated view is had of the
furrounding country, the rivers, the
bay, and the feacoaft from Cape Ann
to York in the province of Maine,
On one of thele heights, called Spring
Hill, and in a moft commanding fitua.
tion, is the elegant fummer refidence
of the Hon. Mr, Dalton, late of the
Federal Senate, whe, to the charalter
ot a ftatefman and gentleman adds
the nolefs honourable diftinfion of a
fagacious and enterprifing hufband-
man. Some few veflels are here own«
ed and employed in the fithery, part
of which are fitted out from Parker
river. This river takes its rife in
Rowley, and after a courfe of a few
miles paffesinto the found which fepa-
rates Plumb ifland from the wmain
land. Itis navigableabout two miles
from its mouth, where a bridge crofles
it 870 feetlong and 26 teet wide, con-
fitting of nine folid piers and eight
wooden arches. ‘This bridge, built
in the year 1758, is on the poft road

;I'Oﬂ'l

* This name ditinguifhes this inftitution from a fimilar one in New-Hampfhire called
Phillip’s Exercr Academy, foandzd folely by the Hon. Dr. Phillips, the funds of which ace
laid to exceed f10,cc0 currency. Jn addition to thefe foundations, this gentleman has
been .by far the moft munificent benefa&or tv Darrmouth Univerfity. Such wife and pi-
ous diftributions of property in the life time of the poffeilor are the moft honourable dif«
play of genuine publick fpirit and difintercited patriotifin 5 and the man who thus nobly
triumphs over the fordid di€tates of avarice or a miftaken felf interefl, has fusely a better
wtle to be canonized than a whole hoft of legendary Saints and Mastyis,
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from Boflon to the eaftward, and is
fupported by a toll under the man-
agement of a truftee,who accountsan-
nually to the court of feflions for the
county,:and is removeable by them
at pleafure. About three miles high-
er up the river is another bridge fup-
ported at the charge of the county.
In a quarry of lime ftone in Byfield
parifh is found the Afbeflos, or incom-
buftible cotton, as it is fometimes call-
ed. Marble has been found in. the
fame vicinity, and it is conjectured that
there are confiderable beds of it. The
{pecimensalready exhibited have been
beautifully variegated in colour and
admitted an admirable polith.
Dummer Academy, in Newbury, was
eflablifhed in 1763. -Its appointments
depend principally on the rent of a
large and valuable farm, devifed by
his Honour William Dummer, Efq.
formerly Lieutenant Governor of the
province, for the fupport ot a per-
petual grammar fchool in this place.
The election of the preceptor was by
the Governor’s will, vefted in the
mirifter of the parith of Byfield for
the time being-and a committeeof the
parifh chofen for that purpefe, and he
was made removeable by the govern-
ment of Harvard College. Some ap-
‘prehenfions that the laudable inten.
tions of the donor might in 2 future
time be fruftrated, induced the Le-
giflature in . 1782, on the application
of the.late venerable Dr. Chauncy,
fele furviving executor of Mr, Dum-
mer’s will, to incorporate certain re-
fpeCtable truftees with entire powers of
managing the eftates and of eleling
and  removing the preceptor. The
Academy isfituated in a healthful and
pleafant .place, retired from the noife
and vices of the bufy world ; and is
at prelent under the tuition of the
Rev. Ifaac Smith, A. M. who has
been lately inducted to the preceptor’s
chair, and whofe amiable virtues and
refpectable talents inture tothe youth
committed to his charge the full ad-
vantage of a regular and happy infti-
tuticn in the paths of virtue and
fcicnce. o
Newbury Port, originally part of
Newbury, from whichits incorporation
detached it in 1764, and by which
and Merrimack river it is wholly en.-

circled, is-perhaps the moft limited in
its extent of land of any townfhip in
the commonwealth, containing but a.
bout 640 acres, Here are four houfes
for publick worthip, viz. one Epifco-
palian, one Prefbyterian and two Con.

- gregational. It was formerly remark.

able for the number of veflels annu.
ally built here; but fince the coms
mencement of the late war, this bi.
finefs hasin a great degree failed and
no. manufacture of . confequence has
yet fupplied its place. The conti-
nental frigates Bofton and Hancock,

‘were- built here, befides many large

private armed fhips diring the war,
The trade to the Wefl Indies is carris
ed on here with much fpirit and to a
great amount. Large quantities of
rum are diftilled, which is principally
exported to the Southern States,
Some veflels are employed in the
freighting bufinefs, and a few in the
filhery. In November 1790 there
were owned in this port fix thips, 43
brigantines, 39 {chooners, and 28
floops, making in the whole 11,870
tons, A term of the Courts of Com-
mon Pleasand General Seffions is held
here on the laft Tuefday of Septem-
ber.

« Mertimack Riever is navigable for
veflels of burthen about twenty miles

_from its mouth, where it is obfiruéted

by the firt falls or rapids called Mirch-
el’s Eddy, between Bradferd-and Ha. '
verhill.© Vaft quantities ‘of fhip tim<_
ber, ranging timber, plank, deals;”
clapboards, fhingles, ftaves, and oth-
er lumber, are brought down in rafts,
fo conftrutted as to pafsall the falls
on theriver except thofe of Amufkecg
in New-Hampfhire, and Pautuket be- .
tween Chelmsford and Dracut in the
county of Middlefex. In the fpring
and fummer confiderable quantities
of falmon, fhad and alewives are
caught, which are either ufed as bait
in the cod fithery, or pickled and
fhipped to the Welt Indies.

Within the county of Effex are
twelve ferries acrofs Merrimack river,
atall of which, except the one between
Newbury Portand Salifbury, the rates

. of ferriage are equal and moderate,

being fixed by the Court of Se(fions.

That. particular ferry claims an ex-

emption from the jurifdiction of the
' N Court
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Court of Seffions, and partly from the
high rate of ferriage, and partly from
the great want of difpatch, it is now
very little frequented, the principal
paflage of travellers being over Swa-
fey’s ferry, about three miles ahove
Newbury Port. = A petition was pre-
fented the laft feflion of the General
Court by fundry gentlemen, of New-
“buryPortand its vicinity, praying for
liberty to erect a bridge acrofs the riv-
er about two miles above the town.
Every good citizen wifhes well to this
publick fpirited enterprize, while ma-
- ny confiderate perfons are extremely
doubtful of its feafibility. The Bar
acrofs thie mouth of this riveris a very
great incumbrance to the navigation
and is efpecially terrible to ftrangers.
There are fixteen feet of water upon
itat common tides. At the clofe of
the late war a voluntary affociation of
the merchants of Newbury Port was
formed for the fupport of two fmall

heights on the larboard hand at en-
tering the river, as a guide in pafling
this bar in the night. In 1787 the
General Court graated a fum ot mo-
ney for the eretion.of two f{ufficient
light houfes, and made the mainten-
anceof thema publick charge. Thefe,
together with the buoys in the river,
by the federal conftitution and the
ceffion of the commonwealth, are now
maintained at the expenfe of the ge-
neral government. The houles are
of wood and contrived to be removed
at pleafure, fo as to be always con-
formed to the thifting of the bar, and
thus the fingle rule of bringing them
in aline will be the only neceffary di-
retion for veffels apprcaching the
harbour,-and by this diretion they
may fail with fafety, until they are a-
breaft of the lights, where is a bold
fhore and good anchoring ground.
{ To be continued. ) '

Coorververs very
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